THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000079

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes,
Petitioner,

v.

Bank of America National Association,
Respondent

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Bradley D. Hewett
D. Michael Kelly
MIKE KELLY LAW GROUP, LLC
1523 Huger Street, Suite A
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 726-0123

Attorneys for Petitioner

RECEIVED
NOV 07 2022
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the circuit court's finding that Bank of America's Motion for Sanctions was premature?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that Bank of America preserved the issue of timeliness under Rule 11 and the FCPSA?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that Bank of America's appeal on the issue of timeliness was not precluded by the two-issue rule?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arose from fraudulent charges made by Respondent against the bank account of John and Jane Hughes. On June 13, 2006, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes opened a line of credit from Respondent in the amount of \$120,000.00, secured by a mortgage (“Mortgage”) on their house in Spartanburg. The line of credit is governed by a document entitled “Bank of America Maximizer Agreement and Disclosure Statement” (“Agreement”) signed by both borrowers on June 13, 2006. (R. at 21, ¶ 7). At the same time, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes signed an acknowledgement and authorization (“Authorization”) which allowed Respondent to automatically draft loan payments from the Hughes’s bank account with Respondent. (R. at 21-22, ¶ 8).

During the meeting to complete the Mortgage transaction, Respondent presented Mr. and Mrs. Hughes with a document entitled “Optional Line Protection Plan Addendum (“Line Protection Plan”).” (R. at 22, ¶ 9). If elected, the Line Protection Plan allowed the cancellation of all or some monthly loan payments in the event of disability, accidental death, or involuntary unemployment. The Agreement explicitly stated that the borrowers “must specifically request” the Line Protection Plan. (R. at 22, ¶ 10). Mr. and Mrs. Hughes both signed a two-page document captioned “OPTIONAL LINE PROTECTION PLAN ADDENDUM (“ADDENDUM”)” which stated that Respondent provided them with information on the Line Protection Plan. (R. at 22, ¶ 11). Jane and John Hughes declined the optional Line Protection Plan by clearly and conspicuously checking a box next to the “DECLINE to purchase any Protection on this Credit Line” option. (R. at 22, ¶ 11; R. at 102).

In June 2006, John Hughes was age 86. (R. at 22, ¶ 12). Mr. Hughes died on October 22, 2008, and left his estate to his wife, Jane K. Hughes. (R. at 23, ¶ 13). Mrs. Hughes was age 85 in June 2006 and underwent major heart surgery, suffered from dementia, and experienced vision

impairments, including cataracts and eye surgery, from June 2006 until her death. (R. at 22, ¶ 12). Mrs. Hughes suffered a broken hip after June 2006 that required hospitalization and extensive rehabilitation at a skilled nursing facility. (R. at 22, ¶ 12). Mrs. Hughes also suffered from impaired cognition, atypical psychosis, confusion, blindness, renal insufficiency, heart failure, and a lack of decisional capacity in the years subsequent to June 2006. (R. at 22-23, ¶ 12).

Over six years after Mr. Hughes's death, on or around March 17, 2015, Respondent sent a boilerplate form cancellation notice addressed to Mr. and Mrs. Hughes, informing them that "The Line Protection Plan would be cancelled on September 30, 2015," and that "You're no longer being charged for the Protection Plan as of April 1, 2015." (R. at 23, ¶ 14; R. at 169-170). Prior to March 2015, Respondent did not provide any statement, notice, or communication of any sort to Mrs. Hughes that the Hugheses had elected any "Protection Plan" or that an amount was being charged to them for such a plan. (R. at 24, ¶ 21). Although Mr. and Mrs. Hughes explicitly declined to purchase any "Protection Plan," Respondent sent a second letter dated March 25, 2015, stating that John Hughes had selected "6 month, Involuntary Unemployment, Disability, Accidental Death and Hospitalization" protection at a monthly rate of 9.5% of the Hughes' Minimum Monthly Payment. (R. at 23, ¶ 16).

In response to an inquiry from a family member of Mrs. Hughes, Respondent stated in a May 6, 2015, letter that "The Line Protection Plan (Plan) addendum for your Bank of America loan ending in 4699 is enclosed, per your request...", and enclosed an eight-page document entitled "OPTIONAL LINE PROTECTION PLAN ADDENDUM ("ADDENDUM")." (R. at 23, ¶ 17; R. at 104-112). The eight-page "ADDENDUM" provided by Respondent in May 2015 is not the two page "ADDENDUM" signed by Mr. and Mrs. Hughes in 2006, and does not contain or provide for signatures or a place for election or rejection of the "protection." (R. at 23-24, ¶

18). Respondent did not provide the eight-page addendum to Mr. or Mrs. Hughes before May 2015, nor did the Line Protection Plan premium appear on the mortgage finance charge disclosed to Mr. and Mrs. Hughes in 2006. (R. at 24, ¶¶ 19, 20). Respondent has been unable to provide any documentation that Mr. or Mrs. Hughes ever elected or agreed to pay for any “Protection Plan” coverage of any sort. (R. at 24, ¶ 22).

Although the Hughes unequivocally declined to purchase the Line Protection Plan, Respondent withdrew a monthly charge of \$28.40 from their joint checking account for several years. (R. at 24, ¶ 23). This charge was ambiguously listed as “Ad Insurance Des:XXXXXX4374 ID: 6 R# XXXXXXXX1070 Indn:Hughes Sr, John P Co ID:XXXXXX4660 Ppd” and appeared amid numerous other monthly charges. (R. at 24, ¶ 23). Notably, all other charges from Respondent or its subsidiaries appearing on the Hughes’s bank statements during the relevant period were clearly designated as transactions with “Bank of America” or “BkofAmerica” and other insurance transactions were clearly identified with the name of the charging company (i.e., “Patrons Mutual,” “Travelers Insur”). (R. at 24, ¶ 24). Further, none of the numbers in the Line Protection Plan transaction description were related to the Hughes’s mortgage or line of credit. (R. at 24, ¶ 25).

As neither Mr. nor Mrs. Hughes had elected Line Protection Plan coverage or had received any notice that Respondent had issued such a plan to them, they were not expecting to be charged for any such service and they did not have any reason to expect that “Ad Insurance Des:XXXXXX4374 ID: R# XXXXXXXX1070 Indn:Hughes Sr, John P Co ID:XXXXXX4660 Ppd” was a charge by Respondent generally or a “Line Protection Plan” charge specifically until receiving the March 2015 notices from Respondent. (R. at 25, ¶ 26). Adding insult to injury, upon receiving notice of Mr. Hughes’s death, on May 6, 2015, Respondent declined coverage under the

Line Protection Plan on the grounds that “[t]he death was the result of disease or treatment of disease or any medical treatment (and/or was not for the treatment of an accidental injury).” (R. at 25, ¶ 27). Respondent refused to refund the payments drawn during Mr. Hughes’s lifetime despite being unable to produce any documentation supporting the purported election to enroll in the Line Protection Plan. (R. at 25, ¶ 28).

On June 3, 2015, Jane K. Hughes passed away, and her son, Petitioner Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, was subsequently named as personal representative of her estate. (R. at 25, ¶ 29). Petitioner initiated a survival action and fraud-based causes of action on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner filed the current survival action on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes on August 15, 2017, alleging fraud and other fraud-based causes of action. On December 21, 2017, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Prior to initiating the present action, Petitioner filed a putative class action lawsuit in 2015 against Respondent for violation of the Truth in Lending Act, fraud, fraudulent concealment, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent acts. Respondent removed the 2015 action to federal court and filed a motion to dismiss in lieu of an answer.

Before the District Court decided Respondent’s motion, Petitioner stipulated to the dismissal, without prejudice, of all claims against Respondent except breach of contract and violation of TILA since the District Court lacked jurisdiction to decide a key issue related to those claims: whether existing precedent excluding fraud from the South Carolina survival statute should be overturned. The question is one left to the State to decide but, because case law provides

controlling precedent on the issue, the question could not be certified back to the South Carolina Supreme Court under South Carolina Rules of Appellate Practice, Rule 244(a). (R. at 460, lines 1-25).

After voluntary dismissal of the fraud-based claims from the federal action, Petitioner refiled those claims in his 2017 Complaint. On December 21, 2017, in lieu of an answer, Respondent moved to dismiss Petitioner's 2017 Complaint under the doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, and the common law exception of fraud from S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (1976), South Carolina's survival statute. On February 22, 2018, the Honorable R. Keith Kelly heard arguments by counsel for Respondent and Petitioner on the Motion to Dismiss. During oral argument, Respondent's counsel raised to the court his belief that the pursuit of claims under the 2017 Complaint by Petitioner's counsel "lies close to a sanctionable type of circumstance" and that counsel is treading in a "dangerous area" by trying to overturn precedent. (R. at 446: lines 5-10, 16). The court entered an order on March 20, 2018, granting Respondent's motion, finding the actions barred by *res judicata*, the statute of limitations, and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90. However, Judge Kelly declined to entertain Respondent's allegations of sanctionable behavior and stayed silent on the issue both at the hearing and in his Order. (R. at 9-18, 440-459).

Petitioner appealed the circuit court's dismissal of his fraud-based claims, filing a timely Notice of Appeal on March 27, 2018, pursuant to Rule 201, SCACR.¹ (R. at 281-282). Two days later, on March 29, 2018, Respondent filed a Motion for Sanctions against Petitioner and his counsel, seeking \$76,556.00 in attorneys' fees and costs, and alleging violations of Rule 11 and

¹ The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's dismissal on September 29, 2021, regarding the survivability of fraud issue strictly on the basis of precedent (Appellate Case No. 2018-000568). Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari was granted on September 7, 2022, Supreme Court Case No. 2021-001339.

the FCPSA. (R. at 294-297, 519). The parties argued the motion before the Honorable Grace Knie on June 1, 2018, and the court subsequently denied Respondent's motion. The circuit court entered its Order on Respondent's Motion for Sanctions on July 3, 2018, finding, in relevant part:

7. Plaintiff and his counsel objected to the granting of Defendant's Motion for Sanctions, arguing, in part, that the Court, when presented with the opportunity to consider the same conduct for which Defendant presently seeks sanctions on a prior occasion, declined to award sanctions against Plaintiff or his counsel. The Defendant, before filing the current Motion for Sanctions, raised the same issues set forth in this motion to the Court, Judge Kelly, at the February 22, 2018, hearing on its Motion to Dismiss. Although Defendant raised the question of sanctions at that hearing, Judge Kelly did not impose sanctions against Plaintiff or his counsel at that time.
8. This matter is currently pending before the South Carolina Court of Appeals as Case Number: 2018-000568, and has not yet been fully adjudicated. Accordingly, Defendant's Motion for Sanctions is untimely and premature.

(R. at 7, ¶¶ 7-8). Following this denial, Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal on August 1, 2018.

(R. at 498-499).

By Opinion Number 2021-UP-354, filed October 13, 2021, the Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court's finding that Respondent's motion for sanctions was untimely and premature, ruling that the circuit court abused its discretion in finding that it could not consider a motion for sanctions before the conclusion of Petitioner's appeal. The Court of Appeals ruled that Respondent preserved the issue of timeliness for appeal, and further ruled that the appeal was not precluded by the two-issue rule. However, the Court of Appeals held that Respondent had abandoned its argument for sanctions under Section 15-36-10(C) of the FCPSA in the appeal.

The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing in an Order dated January 11, 2022. Petitioner filed for a Writ of Certiorari on January 25, 2022. Respondent filed its Return to the Petition on February 24, 2022. Certiorari was granted on September 7, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review in this matter is for an abuse of discretion. This Court recently held:

The decision to impose sanctions is one in equity, and thus the appellate court reviews the circuit court's factual findings de novo. If the appellate court agrees with the factual findings, then it reviews the circuit court's decision to impose sanctions and the amount of sanctions for an abuse of discretion. We also review an equity court's procedural rulings – such as a ruling on timeliness of a Rule 11 motion – for abuse of discretion.

Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson, 424 S.C. 520, 538 n.11, 818 S.E.2d 758, 768 n.11 (2018); *see also Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 370 S.C. 5, 19, 633 S.E.2d 722, 729 (2006) (“On appeal, the imposition of sanctions pursuant to this rule will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.”).

Under the abuse of discretion standard, the lower court's decision on whether to impose sanctions will not be disturbed on appeal unless the decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions. *Se. Site Prep, LLC v. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC*, 394 S.C. 97, 104, 713 S.E.2d 650, 654 (Ct. App. 2011).

ARGUMENTS

The decision of the Court of Appeals that the circuit court abused its discretion in finding that Respondent's Motion for Sanctions was premature conflicts with *Pee Dee Health Care*. Additionally, Respondent failed to preserve the issues of timeliness under Rule 11, SCRCF, and the FCPSA. Finally, Respondent's appeal is precluded by the two-issue rule.

I. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in determining that Respondent's Motion for Sanctions was premature.

The circuit court's decision that Respondent's Motion for Sanctions under Rule 11, SCRCF, and Section 15-31-10(A) of the FCPSA was premature and untimely was reasonably

based, fell within the discretion of the circuit court, and did not rise to an abuse of discretion on the facts of this case as a matter of law. Further, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's holding in *Pee Dee Health Care*.

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with *Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson* as the circuit court acted within its discretion in finding that Respondent's Motion for Sanctions under Rule 11 was premature.

The circuit court, in concluding that Respondent's Motion for Sanctions was premature, did so under its discretionary authority to make such a determination, thus presenting this Court with review under the abuse of discretion standard. It is settled in South Carolina that where "the appellate court agrees with the trial court's findings of fact, it reviews the decision to award sanctions, as well as the terms of those sanctions, under an abuse of discretion standard." *Id.*; see also *Runyon v. Wright*, 322 S.C. 15, 471 S.E.2d 160 (1996)) (the imposition of sanctions will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion by the lower court). An abuse of discretion occurs where the decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions. *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008) (citing *Father v. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 353 S.C. 254, 578 S.E.2d 11 (2003)).

This Court, in *Pee Dee Health Care*, considered the question of whether a trial court abused its discretion in determining that a litigant filed a timely motion for sanctions under Rule 11 after waiting for the resolution of three pending appeals before moving for sanctions. The Court found no abuse of discretion based on several considerations: 1) whether the court maintains jurisdiction over the case; 2) the timing of the motion in light of Rule 11's objectives; 3) laches; and 4) reasonableness. *Id.* In finding that the circuit court retained jurisdiction to hear the motion for sanctions and that waiting to pursue the motion comported with the objectives of Rule 11, but did not amount to laches, the Court ultimately determined that the filing of the litigant's Rule 11

motion was timely. *Id.* 424 S.C. at 538, 818 S.E.2d at 768. In addition to the supporting factors offered by the moving party, the Court stated that:

We are also persuaded by the fact Rule 11 permits a trial court to award sanctions “upon its own initiative,” . . . and there is no stated restriction on when the trial court must do so. Certainly, *it would be reasonable for a trial court . . . that wishes to grant sanctions on that basis, to wait to see if its order on the merits is upheld on appeal before granting sanctions.*

Id. (emphasis added).

The Court in *Pee Dee Health Care* ultimately concluded that there was not an abuse of discretion in the trial court’s determination of reasonableness concerning the timing of the motion for sanctions, finding that policy considerations espoused in the majority opinion “weigh heavily in favor of allowing a party to delay filing a Rule 11 sanctions motion.” *Id.* 242 S.C. at 541, 818 S.E.2d at 769.

Likewise, in the instant case, Petitioner filed an appeal challenging the merits of a circuit court decision prior to Respondent moving for sanctions. Indeed, Respondent seeks sanctions against Petitioner and his counsel for filing pleadings it alleges to be frivolous, while Petitioner is actively appealing the Order of Dismissal relied upon by Respondent to support its argument. The circuit court’s reluctance to rule on the frivolity of a pleading that may be subsequently deemed viable is certainly reasonable and is consistent with the objectives of Rule 11 to streamline court dockets and facilitate court management by minimizing the amount of court resources dedicated to this matter. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 533, 818 S.E.2d at 765.

In the event that the circuit court prematurely deemed Petitioner’s filings frivolous and granted an award of sanctions, and Petitioner subsequently succeeded in the appeal of the dismissal, further litigation would inevitably ensue. The Court in *Pee Dee Health Care* anticipated this very situation, reasoning that a circuit court might decline to hear a sanctions motion, pending

the appeal of related matters, which would arguably be stayed pursuant to Rule 241(a), SCACR. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 538, 818 S.E.2d at 768.

The circuit court's decision not to issue a ruling on the merits of Respondent's sanctions motion pending Petitioner's appeal, under the factors set forth by the Supreme Court in *Pee Dee Health Care*, does not preclude Respondent from refiling a Rule 11 motion at the conclusion of Petitioner's appeal. The jurisdiction of the circuit court to hear matters relating to an action does not lapse after the expiry of the ten day window to file a motion to alter or amend prescribed by Rule 59(e), SCRCF. In the case of an action appealed by a party, it is well established that the circuit court retains jurisdiction to hear matters after remittitur and take action consistent with the appellate court's ruling. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 531-532, 818 S.E.2d at 764, (citing *Martin v. Paradise Cove Marina, Inc.*, 348 S.C. 379, 385, 559 S.E.2d 348, 351-52 (Ct. App. 2001)). The circuit court's jurisdiction to consider a Rule 11 motion is not subject to set time constraints, but continues for a period deemed fair by the lower court in light of equitable considerations. *Id.* 424 S.C. at 540, 818 S.E.2d at 769.

The Court in *Pee Dee Health Care* reasoned that the circuit court is entitled to consider "all relevant circumstances in the context of the litigation" when determining the timeliness of a motion for sanctions. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 537, 818 S.E.2d at 767. Thus, the holding in *Pee Dee Health Care* ratified a circuit court's decision to abstain from issuing sanctions during the pendency of an appeal.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, there is an absence of authority in which South Carolina courts have considered sanctions solely under subsection (A) of the post-2005 FCPSA. In reversing the circuit court, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that its holding can leave circuit courts in an awkward position. Given such awkwardness, the ruling in *Pee Dee Health Care*, and

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