THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED
Dec 07 2022

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2022-000079

Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes,
Petitioner,

v.

Bank of America, National Association,
Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

MCGUIREWOODS LLP

Robert A. Muckenfuss
(S.C. Bar No. 13903)
201 N. Tryon Street, Suite 3000
Charlotte, NC 28202
Telephone: (704) 343-2052

Elizabeth Z. Timmermans
(S.C. Bar No. 100288)
Jonathan Y. Ellis (*pro hac vice forthcoming*)

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

In sum, the Court held in *Pee Dee Health Care* that in *some* cases Rule 11 motions *may* be timely, even if filed after remittitur from appeal at a time when jurisdiction is returned to the trial court. If that delayed filing time is reasonable under the circumstances, the motion will not be considered too *late*. The Court did not give litigants like BANA any assurance that every Rule 11 motion filed after remittitur would be considered timely. To the contrary, the Court emphasized the general rule favoring early filing. And the Court certainly did not hold that a Rule 11 motion *must* be filed after remittitur, under all circumstances, or is somehow “untimely” if filed sooner. In other words, *Pee Dee Health Care* did not say that Rule 11 motions filed within ten days of an order would be too *early*—or disavow the Court’s previous holding that a Rule 11 motion made alongside a timely FCPSA motion is itself timely. *See Russell*, 370 S.C. at 20 n.11, 633 S.E.2d at 730 n.11.

Pee Dee Health Care thus does not support Hughes’ view that a litigant must always wait until after remittitur to seek Rule 11 sanctions. Rather, its flexible test for timeliness is exactly the opposite of the new, strict rule Hughes proposes. And applying that test, typically used to decide whether a motion is *late*, to the question of whether BANA’s motion was too *early*, shows that BANA’s Rule 11 motion, promptly filed with its FCPSA motion while the court retained jurisdiction to hear post-trial motions and in an effort to recover fees for partially abandoned claims and deter Hughes from continued litigation abuse, was reasonable and timely.

b. The Court did note in *Pee Dee Health Care* that, had counsel moved for sanctions while the appeals were pending, the circuit court “likely . . . would not have heard the sanctions

motion . . . based on the impression the motion dealt with ‘matters decided in the order[s],’ which would arguably be stayed pending the resolution of the appeals.” *Id.* at 536, 818 S.E.2d at 766 (citing Rule 241(a), SCACR)). No Justice expressed a view on whether that “impression” would have been correct, though Justice Kittredge went further in concurrence to state that if a sanctions motion “relates to the matters on appeal, then further proceedings in the trial court are stayed, pending resolution of the appeal.” *Id.* at 542, 818 S.E.2d at 770 (Kittredge, J., concurring). But the salient point is that neither the majority nor Justice Kittredge suggested that a motion for sanctions under Rule 11 filed while an appeal is pending would have been—or should be—*dismissed* as premature or untimely.

To the contrary, Justice Kittredge affirmatively stated that, even if the motion might be stayed, “[t]he better practice under th[o]se circumstances would be to file [the] Rule 11 motion not later than ten days following entry of judgment in the trial court.” *Id.* That approach, he explained, would both allow the Rule 11 motion “to be considered in tandem with a motion for sanctions under the FCPSA” and, even if stayed, provide the parties “notice of any alleged sanctionable conduct as the appeal proceeds.” *Id.* Nothing in the Court’s majority opinion undermined that guidance.

Justice Kittredge’s approach is especially sensible where, as here, the Rule 11 motion not only accompanies a motion under FCPSA but concerns multiple matters *unrelated* to those on appeal. Hughes only appealed his fraud-based claims. *Supra* at 5. So no precedent related to the potential frivolousness of his conversion, breach of fiduciary duty, or SCUTPA claims would change (or even be addressed) on appeal. The Circuit Court could thus have easily resolved whether those claims were frivolous without touching on the matters on appeal. In contrast, had BANA waited to file its motion, it not only risked losing its chance to pursue Rule 11 (and FCPSA)

sanctions on any basis, but especially risked losing its chance to pursue Rule 11 (and FCPSA) sanctions based on those non-appealed claims. Because the appeal would not even touch on those claims, it is not hard to imagine a court later viewing it as unreasonable to delay seeking sanctions for those claims. It certainly was reasonable for BANA to avoid a risky delay of that kind.

As for BANA's request for sanctions based on the fraud claims that were appealed, the reasoning in *Pee Dee Health Care* suggests that, at most, the Circuit Court should have simply stayed the sanctions motion—not dismissed the entire motion as premature. The Circuit Court could have resolved the parts of the motion that did not impact the appeal and stayed the others. Or, if the court shared Hughes' purported concerns about “streamlin[ing] court dockets and facilitat[ing] court management,” Petr.'s Br. 10, it could have stayed all proceedings on the sanctions motions until appellate proceedings were complete. In the meantime, BANA would have preserved its right to seek sanctions and provided Hughes notice of his sanctionable conduct. *See id.* at 541, 818 S.E.2d at 769 (Kittredge, J., concurring). In any event, nothing in *Pee Dee Health Care* supports the Circuit Court's legal conclusion that BANA's motion was filed too early or otherwise justifies its dismissal.

2. Differences between FCPSA subsections (A) and (C) are irrelevant to whether an FCPSA motion filed nine days after dismissal is untimely and premature.

The fact that BANA moved for sanctions under subsection (A) of the FCPSA, rather than under subsection (C), also does not justify the Circuit Court's ruling. Hughes argues that motions for sanctions under FCPSA subsection (A) are not subject to the ten-day limit this Court has consistently applied to the FCPSA, because no decision addressing the timeliness of a FCPSA motion has addressed subsection (A) specifically. Even if Hughes were correct that the strict ten-day deadline did not apply to subsection (A) motions, it would create only the possibility that

BANA *could* have waited to file its motion for sanctions under the FCPSA, not that it was *required* to do so. In any event, Hughes is wrong.

Hughes contends that because FCPSA subsection (C) allows litigants to bring motions “[a]t the conclusion of a trial” targeting an entire “claim or defense” as frivolous, while subsections (A) and (B) do not refer to “the conclusion of a trial,” subsection (A) motions are not post-trial motions subject to the usual 10-day limit. Petr.’s Br. 13-14. Instead, Hughes asserts, subsection (A) reads more like Rule 11, so the timeliness of subsection (A) motions should be determined based on the equitable factors *Pee Dee Health Care* set forth for Rule 11 (factors Hughes wrongly argues preclude a pre-appeal Rule 11 motion). *Id.* In effect, Hughes argues that if an appeal is noticed, a litigant cannot file either a Rule 11 or FCPSA subsection (A) sanctions motion until after the appeal concludes—but *must* file any FCPSA subsection (C) sanctions motion within ten days. That regime makes no sense. The better reading of the law is that the same ten-day limit applies to all FCPSA motions. And, most importantly, just as Rule 11 never *requires* delay, but instead permits and encourages earlier motions, subsection (A) allows sanctions motions at any point after the sanctionable conduct has occurred—and up to ten days after the judgment.

The differences between subsections (A) and (C) are fully explained by the fact that subsection (A) motions are not permitted only post-trial but may also be filed *before* the conclusion of trial, where warranted. Subsection (A) focuses on specific frivolous pleadings, rather than entire claims or defenses. Because such frivolous filings could be made at any point in an action, well before a trial ends or verdict is reached, subsection (A) allows litigants to bring sanctions motions *sooner* than the end of trial—if, for example, a baseless discovery motion is filed in the middle of an action, long before the action is likely to conclude. But subsection (A)’s language does not show that litigants can bring such motions at any time *post*-trial.

Subsections (A) and (B)'s similarity to Rule 11 does not change this conclusion, especially because Rule 11 motions can also be brought before a trial concludes. *See, e.g., Pee Dee Health Care*, 424 S.C. at 541, 818 S.E.2d at 769-70 (Kittredge, J., concurring) (noting that Rule 11 does not prevent "filing a Rule 11 motion for sanctions every time a party believes a violation has occurred"). These provisions simply reflect the Legislature's effort to broaden the FCPSA to allow sanctions based on frivolous pleadings, whenever filed pretrial. It does not reflect any legislative intent to change the longstanding rule that FCPSA motions under any subsection must be brought, at the latest, within ten days of notice of judgment.

Confirming this view is the fact that this Court, before 2005, recognized the ten-day requirement for FCPSA motions, even though the FCPSA has never expressly included that requirement.² *Russell*, 370 S.C. at 17, n.8 & 20, 633 S.E.2d at 728, n.8 & 730. It did so based not on any express limitation in the statute, but on the general rule that "a trial judge loses jurisdiction over a case" after that period. *Id.* "The legislature is presumed to be aware of this Court's interpretation of its statutes." *State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines*, 338 S.C. 176, 188, 525 S.E.2d 872, 879 (2000). Had the Legislature wished to create a different timing

² Before 2005, the FCPSA provided that:

Any person who takes part in the procurement, initiation, continuation, or defense of any civil proceeding is subject to being assessed for payment of all or a portion of the attorney's fees and court costs of the other party if:

- (1) he does so primarily for a purpose other than that of securing the proper discovery, joinder of parties, or adjudication of the claim upon which the proceedings are based; and
- (2) the proceedings have terminated in favor of the person seeking an assessment of the fees and costs.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10 (2004).

requirement for subsection (A) motions, it would have said so explicitly. *Cf. Pitman*, 351 S.C. at 432-33, 570 S.E.2d at 189-90 (“Absent specific statutory language vesting the trial judge with continuing jurisdiction, we refuse to hold that a trial judge retains jurisdiction to consider a motion for sanctions beyond ten days after entry of the judgment.”).

Because the FCPSA lacks any express language saying that subsection (A) claims cannot be filed before an appeal concludes, this Court should not create a new standard for one subsection of the FCPSA that differs from its longstanding, consistent treatment of the statute. This Court should especially avoid creating any standard barring litigants from promptly filing FCPSA motions after a dismissal order is entered, as BANA did here. Because the Circuit Court made an error of law by imposing such a standard on BANA, an error the Court of Appeals properly corrected, this Court should affirm.

II. BANA PRESERVED A CHALLENGE TO THE SOLE ISSUE OF TIMELINESS ON WHICH THE CIRCUIT COURT BASED ITS RULING.

Hughes’ preservation and two-issue rule arguments do not warrant a different result. The Court of Appeals correctly held that BANA preserved the timeliness issue for appeal and that the timeliness issue was the sole basis for the Circuit Court’s denial of BANA’s sanctions motion. Hughes fails to demonstrate error in either determination.

A. BANA’s Memorandum In Support Of Its Motion For Sanctions Raised The Timeliness Issue And The Circuit Court Ruled On It.

BANA raised the timeliness issue to the Circuit Court by stating that “[t]he court retain[ed] jurisdiction to consider BANA’s Motion for Sanctions despite Hughes appealing this Court’s order on BANA’s Motion to Dismiss.” (R. p. 343 n.1.) BANA cited as support for this assertion (1) *Pee Dee Health Care, supra*, for the proposition that this Court has “reject[ed] argument[s] that sanctions motion[s] should not be filed until after conclusion of the appeal,” and (2) *In re Beard, supra*, for the proposition that an FCPSA sanctions motion “must be filed within ten days of the

notice of entry of judgment.” (R. p. 343 n.1.) BANA thus put before the Circuit Court the issue of whether it could consider a sanctions motion filed within ten days of its dismissal order but while an appeal was pending. And the Circuit Court ruled on that issue, reaching the opposite (and incorrect) conclusion that it could not consider such an “untimely and premature” motion. (R. p. 7.) The very issue Hughes has now appealed all the way to this Court was thus “raised [to] and ruled upon by the trial court.” *Pye v. Est. of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006), *overruled on other grounds by Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E.2d 774 (2021).

Hughes does not explain why BANA’s straightforward reference to an issue that the Circuit Court then directly addressed and ruled on does not suffice to preserve that issue. He contends that BANA’s argument should be disregarded because it was only a “vague reference in a footnote.” Petr.’s Br. 15. And he asserts that BANA therefore had to file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion to effect preservation because, in Hughes’ view, the trial court ruled on an issue never presented to it. Petr.’s Br. 15-16. But the very authority on which Hughes relies shows that Rule 59(e) motions are required only to preserve an argument that was “raised, but not ruled on.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004); *see I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, *but the court fails to rule upon it*, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” (emphasis added)). Hughes concedes that the issue here was ruled on. Petr.’s Br. 16. That concession ends the inquiry.

Hughes asserts that post-trial motions are also required “when the trial court grants relief not requested or rules on an issue never raised at trial.” Petr.’s Br. 16 (quoting *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 29, 602 S.E.2d at 782). But that quotation comes from Justice Waller’s *dissent* in *Elam*, not from

the majority opinion, which only required Rule 59 motions when the trial court fails to rule on a raised issue. *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 24, 602 S.E.2d at 780. In any event, BANA did raise the issue. And even if a footnote argument were insufficient to preserve an issue that a court never passed on—though Hughes cites no authority for that suggestion, *see* Petr.’s Br. 15—the Circuit Court did rule on the issue. As the Court of Appeals held, when “the judge had an opportunity to rule on an issue, and did so, it [was] not incumbent upon counsel to harass the judge by parading the issues before him again.” (R. p. 634.) (quoting Jean Hoefler Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 185-86 (3d ed. 2016)).

Hughes’ preservation argument thus provides no basis to disturb the Court of Appeals’ judgment.

B. The Circuit Court’s Ruling Rests Only On Its Erroneous Conclusion That BANA’s Motion Was “Untimely And Premature.”

Finally, Hughes’ two-issue rule argument is likewise meritless. The two-issue rule provides that “where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) (citation omitted). The rule does not apply here, because the Circuit Court based its decision on a single ground: its (incorrect) view that BANA’s motion was “untimely and premature.” (R. p. 7.) There was no other basis for the Circuit Court’s denial of the motion, and thus no second issue that BANA failed to appeal.

By briefly describing the sanctions discussion at the motion to dismiss argument and noting Hughes’ contention that BANA’s motion should be denied because the court previously did not issue sanctions, the Circuit Court merely described the procedural background of the case and the basis for Hughes’ argument against sanctions. *See McKinney v. Pedery*, 413 S.C. 475, 489, 776

S.E.2d 566, 573 (2015) (rejecting application of the two-issue rule where “court merely made factual findings summarizing the testimony presented at [a] hearing”). The Circuit Court drew no conclusions from the fact that the trial court previously did not award sanctions when BANA mentioned them at argument. It simply recognized the historical fact.